IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

JAN 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-000679

Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company.....Appellant,

v.

Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper, Wendy Timms in her  
capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate of Christopher  
Adam Timms, Deborah Timms, .....Defendants,

Of whom,

Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper, and Wendy Timms in her  
capacity as Personal Representative of The Estate of Christopher  
Adam Timms, .....Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

J.R. Murphy, Esquire

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The Circuit Court errēd by failing to enforce exclusions in an automobile liability policy that prevent an insured from being indemnified beyond the minimum limits for injuries caused by his decision to flee law enforcement or commit a felony.**
  
- II. **If the Circuit Court correctly read the Supreme Court’s opinion in *Williams v. GEICO* to preclude exclusions in auto policies that reduce coverage to the minimum limits when an insured is committing a felony or fleeing from law enforcement, then the decision in *Williams* should be overturned.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a tragic accident that resulted from Korey Mayfield’s decision to flee from law enforcement. Mayfield was driving a Chevrolet Lumina insured by Nationwide and owned by Respondent Sharmin Walls. Walls, Christopher Timms, and Randy Harper were passengers in the vehicle when State Trooper Travis Wilson observed Mayfield crossing the yellow line and speeding. Trooper Wilson activated his blue lights. Instead of pulling over, Mayfield led Trooper Wilson on a high-speed chase. Mayfield ultimately lost control of the vehicle and ran off the road in a single-car accident that caused Timms’ death and severe injuries to Walls and Harper.

The Nationwide policy insuring the Chevy Lumina provided liability limits of \$100,000 per person and \$300,000 per accident. However, the policy included two exclusions relevant to this appeal: (1) a flight from law enforcement exclusion; and (2) a felony exclusion. The exclusions applied “with regard to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law . . . .” (R. pp. 109-110). In addition, although Walls had the option to purchase underinsured motorist coverage, she chose not to. (R. p. 119, lines 21-22). Therefore, the recoveries for her and the other passengers in the Lumina are limited to the applicable liability coverage.

After the accident, Nationwide tendered the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Act, \$50,000, to the Respondents here. Nationwide then filed this declaratory action seeking a declaration applying the felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions.<sup>1</sup> The case came before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. for bench trial on September 12, 2013.

At trial, Respondents raised for the first time their contention that Mayfield was a non-permissive user, attempting to trigger the policy's uninsured motorist coverage. Nationwide objected to this contention based on Respondents' failure to plead a claim for uninsured motorist coverage. (R. p. 118, lines 7-12). On August 18, 2014, the Circuit Court entered an Order in favor of Respondents and against Nationwide. (R. p. 11). The August 18 Order found that Mayfield was a non-permissive user of the vehicle and, therefore, Respondents were entitled to uninsured motorist coverage. (R. p. 16).

On August 26, 2014, Nationwide served a Motion to Alter or Amend the August 18 Order. (R. p. 83) (R. p. 85). In particular, Nationwide argued that the Respondents had failed to raise the issue of Mayfield's non-permissive use in their pleadings, and that Respondents were precluded from seeking uninsured motorist coverage because they had recovered liability payments equal to the mandatory minimum limits from two different insurers.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 86). Nationwide also argued

---

<sup>1</sup> Initially, Korey Mayfield contended that Sharmin Walls was actually driving the car at the time of the accident. However, Mayfield pled guilty to reckless homicide as a result of the accident, and the Circuit Court entered summary judgment on August 29, 2011 finding that Mayfield was the driver of Walls' vehicle at the time of the accident. That ruling has not been appealed.

<sup>2</sup> In addition to recovering \$50,000 from Nationwide as the uncontested portion of Nationwide's liability coverage, Respondents also recovered from State Auto who insured Mayfield for an at-home vehicle. (R. p. 20); (R. p. 23). At trial, Respondents failed to present the Safe Auto policy, and failed to present evidence that the policy did not provide liability coverage to Mayfield for the accident.

that the Order misapplied South Carolina law, failed to make the key factual determinations of whether Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident and committing a felony, and made factual determinations that were not supported by the record. (R. p. 88-92; p. 103-104).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on Nationwide's Motion to Alter or Amend on March 6, 2015. At the hearing, Respondents withdrew their contention that the uninsured motorist coverage applied. (R. p. 123, lines 10-23). Furthermore, the Circuit Court found that Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident. (R. p. 122, lines 12-17). Subsequently, on February 26, 2016, the Circuit Court entered an Order finding Mayfield was fleeing from law enforcement at the time of the accident and that his conduct constituted a felony. (R. p. 5). Nonetheless, the Circuit Court refused to apply the plain language of the exclusion. Instead, the Circuit Court read the Supreme Court's recent decision in *Williams v. Government Employees Insurance Company*, 409 S.C. 586, 762 S.E.2d 705 (2014), to hold that *any* exclusion in an automobile liability policy issued in South Carolina that reduces the applicable limits of coverage to the minimum amount required by the financial responsibility laws is void and violates public policy pursuant to South Carolina Code Annotated Section 38-77-142(c). (R. p. 6 and pp. 8-9).

The Circuit Court also held Nationwide's exclusion unenforceable because the policy provision was not set out in bold or otherwise brought to the insured's attention in some way other than being plainly written in the policy. (R. pp. 7 & 9). This appeal followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Nationwide policy excludes liability coverage for amounts in excess of the state's minimum required limits of coverage while an insured is committing a felony or fleeing from law enforcement. There is no dispute in this case that Timms was fleeing from law enforcement and

that he pled guilty to a felony as a result of the accident. However, relying on the Supreme Court's holding in *Williams*, the Circuit Court held, in effect, that *any* provision in an automobile liability policy that reduces coverage to the mandatory minimum limits violates public policy and is therefore unenforceable. Nationwide respectfully contends that the Circuit Court misread the *Williams* case, which held that an *arbitrary and capricious* family member exclusion violated public policy. In contrast, the exclusions here – flight from law enforcement and commission of a felony exclusions – merely limit coverage for conduct that the State of South Carolina has already deemed criminal. Rather than arbitrarily or capriciously excluding coverage, these provisions support the State's public policy by preventing an insured from being indemnified in amounts over and above the State's mandatory minimum limits when the insured is committing a crime. Therefore, the exclusions should be enforced as written.

Alternatively, if the Circuit Court read the *Williams* case correctly, then the opinion in *Williams* should be overturned. In reaching its conclusion, the Supreme Court in *Williams* relied upon the phrase "within the coverage," and interpreted that phrase to mean "within the limits" on the face of the policy's declarations page. However, the General Assembly's use of the phrase "within the coverage" in other insurance statutes clearly reveals that "coverage" means the terms and conditions of the policy, not the policy limits. When the General Assembly intends to use the word "limits," it does so. Likewise, a review of the South Carolina Supreme Court's use of the phrase "within the coverage" in numerous insurance cases reveals that "coverage" does not mean "limits."

The Circuit Court also created a new rule that has never been recognized in South Carolina by holding the exclusion should have been set out in bold or otherwise made apparent in the insurance policy. This is not the law. South Carolina has long held to the traditional rule that an

insured is expected to read the insurance policy, and courts will enforce plainly worded exclusions. Because the exclusions in this case are plain and unambiguous, they must be enforced as written.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the case were largely stipulated at trial. Walls owned a Chevrolet Lumina insured by Nationwide. (R. p. 2). The policy provided liability limits of \$100,000 per person, \$300,000 per accident. (R. p. 109). However, the policy contained an exclusion that applied to any coverage in excess of the State's mandatory minimum limits if bodily injury occurred while an insured – either the named insured, a resident relative, or a permissive user – was fleeing from law enforcement or committing a felony:

- B. This coverage does not apply, with regard to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law as of the date of the loss, to:
  - 6. **Bodily injury or property damage** caused by:
    - a) **You**;
    - b) a **relative**; or
    - c) anyone else while operating **your auto**:
      - (1) while committing a felony; or
      - (2) while fleeing a law enforcement officer.

(R. p. 110).

On July 11, 2008, Walls, Mayfield, Harper, and Timms had been drinking at Walls' residence when they left as a group. (R. p. 244-246). Walls had been drinking wine all morning, so she got in the car and allowed Mayfield to drive her Chevy Lumina without protest. (R. p. 245-246). The group made a number of stops before Trooper Travis Wilson observed the vehicle on South Carolina Highway 81 in Anderson crossing the yellow line and going approximately 12 miles an hour over the speed limit. (R. p. 248); (R. p. 108). Trooper Wilson decided to pull the vehicle over and activated his blue lights. (R. p. 108). Then, the Lumina – operated by Mayfield – went from the far left lane (81 is a four-lane road) to the far right turning lane, disregarded a stop signal, and continued down 81 South. (R. p. 108). While driving down 81

South, Trooper Wilson's vehicle reached speeds of 109 miles per hour in an effort to keep up with the Lumina. (R. p. 108).

Mayfield turned left off 81 South onto Fred Dean Road. (R. p. 109). In order to keep up, Trooper Wilson's vehicle reached speeds exceeding 95 miles per hour. (R. p. 109). Mayfield then turned right onto Flat Rock Road and then left onto Leatherdale Road, disregarding multiple stop signs. (R. p. 109). At that time, Trooper Wilson received instructions to terminate the pursuit, which he did. (R. p. 109). However, by the time Trooper Wilson deactivated his siren and blue lights, the Lumina was out of sight. (R. p. 109).

Knowing that Leatherdale Road was a curvy road, Trooper Wilson proceeded down Leatherdale to ensure that the Lumina made it through several upcoming curves. (R. p. 109). Approximately a mile down the road, Mayfield lost control of the Lumina and ran off the road in a single-vehicle accident. (R. p. 109). Trooper Wilson came upon the scene within a minute-and-a-half of terminating the chase. (R. p. 109). The Greenville County Accident Reconstruction Team investigated and determined that Mayfield was travelling a minimum of 72 miles per hour when he lost control. (R. pp. 109 & 194). The speed limit on that portion of Leatherdale Road was 35 miles per hour. (R. p. 109). Timms died as a result of the accident, and Mayfield, Walls, and Harper each sustained serious injuries.

Mayfield was charged with and ultimately pled guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970), to reckless homicide – a felony. (R. p. 110). Furthermore, the Circuit Court made a factual determination that Mayfield was fleeing a law enforcement officer at the time of the accident. (R. p. 4). The Circuit Court based its factual determination on damage to the vehicle, the speed of the vehicle at the time of the accident, the dash cam video, witness statements, and the timeline. (R. pp. 4-5). Even though Trooper

Wilson had terminated the chase, the Circuit Court found that Mayfield's unlawful course of conduct and manner of driving continued up until the time of the crash.

Relying on the flight-from-law-enforcement and felony exclusions in the policy, Nationwide agreed to tender its \$50,000 of undisputed liability coverage, which the Respondents accepted. (R. pp. 253, 256 & 261). Furthermore, Mayfield had liability coverage under a policy of insurance issued by State Auto. State Auto also tendered its liability limits of \$50,000. (R. pp. 20 & 26). Then, Nationwide filed this declaratory judgment action seeking application of the felony and flight from law enforcement exclusions. (R. p. 33).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue." *Lee v. University of South Carolina*, 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014) (citation omitted). "Because the construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a matter of law for the court, [appellate courts] review the trial court's findings of law *de novo*." *Id.* (citing *Watts v. Monarch Builders, Inc.*, 272 S.C. 517, 520, 252 S.E.2d 889, 891 (1979)); *see also Gary v. Askew*, 789 S.E.2d 94, 99 (S.C. Ct. App. June 1, 2016).

### **ARGUMENT**

Nationwide's flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions prevent an insured from receiving excess liability coverage for his commission of a crime. Many states completely preclude coverage for criminal acts. At a minimum, an exclusion that prevents or limits an individual from receiving indemnification for his felonious acts supports, rather than conflicts with, public policy. Therefore, the exclusions should be enforced as written. To the extent that South Carolina has recognized a countervailing interest of protecting the public from injuries caused by the tortious act of a driver, that interest has been stated to be up to the minimum amount

of coverage required by statute, not more. The *Williams* case does not change this outcome, especially for exclusions that promote rather than harm public policy.

Respectfully, if the Supreme Court in *Williams* read § 38-77-142 to preclude *any* exclusion in a policy that reduces the limits of coverage to the mandatory minimum amount based upon the insured's conduct, then the *Williams* decision misreads the phrase "within the coverage" in that statute. If the Court finds that the decision in *Williams* applies only to arbitrary and capricious exclusions that otherwise violate public policy, then the Court need not address this question.

**I. The Circuit Court erred by failing to enforce exclusions in an automobile liability policy that prevent an insured from being indemnified beyond the minimum limits for injuries caused by his decision to flee law enforcement or commit a felony.**

Nationwide's policy excludes illegal conduct. Logically, an exclusion that discourages illegal conduct promotes public policy. However, because South Carolina's General Assembly has determined that the State also has a public policy of protecting injured members of the public, South Carolina law requires minimum limits of coverage even when an insured's conduct violates the law. *See e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140 (providing minimum limits of required liability coverage). The Court of Appeals in *United Services Auto. Ass'n v. Markosky*, 340 S.C. 223, 530 S.E.2d 660, (Ct. App. 2000), recognized that § 38-77-140 defines the extent of the state's public policy as to mandatory liability coverage:

That public policy, however, has been effected by the enactment of the minimal limits coverage statute found in S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140. As recognized in *Shores*, "the legislature has determined that for all vehicles registered in South Carolina, at least minimal coverage is necessary to protect the public." To the extent the legislature determines this public policy is not being effected, it has the option of raising the minimum limits. We will not construe the

plain language of the statute to extend the public policy beyond that which was plainly intended.

340 S.C. at 230, 530 S.E.2d at 664. Therefore, exclusions that reduce coverage to the State's mandatory minimum limits are enforceable to the extent that they otherwise comply with South Carolina's public policy. Nationwide's exclusions for criminal conduct do just that.

In *Williams*, the Supreme Court read South Carolina Code § 38-77-142 to hold that "once the face amount of coverage is agreed upon, it may not be arbitrarily reduced or limited by conflicting policy provisions that effectively retract this stated coverage." 409 S.C. at 604, 762 S.E.2d at 715. The Circuit Court interpreted this holding to mean that *any* step down provision violates South Carolina public policy. The Circuit Court read *Williams* too broadly. The Supreme Court in *Williams* merely held that *arbitrary and capricious* step down provisions are unenforceable. Because the flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions are far from arbitrary or capricious, these step down provisions comport with South Carolina public policy and are enforceable.

**A. The Nationwide policy plainly and unambiguously excludes liability coverage for amounts exceeding the State's mandatory minimum limits when an insured driver is fleeing from law enforcement or committing a felony.**

Nationwide's flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions plainly and unambiguously define what conduct is subject to the exclusions, and to whom the exclusions apply:

B. This coverage does not apply, with regard to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law as of the date of the loss, to:

6. **Bodily injury or property damage** caused by:

- a) **You**;
- b) a **relative**; or
- c) anyone else while operating **your auto**:
  - (1) while committing a felony; or
  - (2) while fleeing a law enforcement officer.

(R. p. 109-110).

Despite the plain wording and the plain application of the exclusion to Mayfield, the Circuit Court held “the only rational reading of the [sic] this provision of the policy would make it applicable only to the ‘insured purchaser’ being guilty of such conduct.” (R. pp. 7-8). Respectfully, the Circuit Court’s reading completely ignores parts b) and c) of the exclusion stating that it also applies to a “relative” or “anyone else” while driving the vehicle. There is no ambiguity here.

“A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one meaning or when its meaning is unclear.” *Bardsley v. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 68, 75, 747 S.E.2d 436, 439-40 (2013) (citation omitted). “Accordingly, when a court makes a finding of ambiguity, ***it must set forth either how a provision is capable of more than one meaning or is obscure in meaning.*** A simple finding of ambiguity, absent any reasoning, is insufficient.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Circuit Court’s Order fails to set forth an alternative reasonable reading of the exclusion that would provide coverage under the facts of this claim. The exclusion is plain. The Circuit Court entered summary judgment, finding that Mayfield was operating the insured automobile. Therefore, he is “anyone else . . . operating your auto” and the exclusion applies if he was fleeing law enforcement or committing a felony. In its February 26, 2016 Order, the Circuit Court found that Mayfield was doing both. He was fleeing law enforcement and committing a felony when the accident occurred. (R. p. 5). Therefore, the exclusion applies by its plain terms. Respondents failed to present any logical alternative reading of the exclusion that would provide coverage in this case. Therefore, the exclusion is unambiguous.

The Circuit Court also found the exclusion unconscionable, but did not expressly state why. It appears that one justification by the Circuit Court was that “it was nowhere made clear in the

policy, that the coverage she purchased and paid for would be reduced in the event of certain circumstances.” (R. p. 7). The Circuit Court further held: “the testimony in evidence shows Such [sic] clause was not set out in bold print or otherwise made apparent to Walls in the insurance policy.” (R. p. 9).

Respectfully, the Stipulation of Facts submitted to the Circuit Court states that the policy contained the exclusion. (R. p. 109-110). Moreover, neither Walls nor any other individual involved in the insurance transaction testified at trial. There was no evidence presented at trial showing that Walls was not aware of the exclusion or that the exclusion was not clearly presented in the policy. Therefore, this factual finding was not supported by the evidence presented at trial. Moreover, the ruling that the exclusion is unconscionable because it was not sufficiently brought to Walls’ attention is based upon a mistake of law.

South Carolina’s appellate courts have never held that a policy exclusion was unenforceable because it was not brought to an insured’s attention. Rather, “[i]nsurance policies are subject to the general rules of contract construction.” *South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Dawsey*, 371 S.C. 353, 356, 638 S.E.2d 103, 104 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). “Although exclusions in a policy are construed against the insurer, insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose conditions on their obligations provided they are not in contravention of public policy or a statutory prohibition.” *Id.* (citations omitted). “[I]n cases where there is no ambiguity, contracts of insurance, like other contracts, must be construed according to the terms which the parties have used, to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary and popular sense.” *Precision Walls, Inc. v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 175, 183, 763 S.E.2d 598, 602 (Ct. App. 2014) (citation omitted). “The court cannot torture the meaning of policy language to extend

coverage not intended by the parties.” *Id.* (quoting *Dawsey*, 371 S.C. at 638 S.E.2d at 105 (other citations omitted)).

South Carolina’s appellate courts have never placed the burden of bringing exclusions that are plainly stated in the insurance policy to the insured’s attention. Rather, the plain language of the policy is designed to do just that. Requiring that one exclusion have special print formatting to grab the insured’s attention would – by definition – render another exclusion less noticeable. Moreover, if every exclusion used the same font, then none would stand out against each other. Rather than creating this impossible burden for insurers, South Carolina – like other jurisdictions – adopts the reasonable rule that an insured has the burden and expectation of reading her insurance policy and knowing its contents. *See Doub v. Weathersby-Breeland Ins. Agency*, 268 S.C. 319, 326, 233 S.E.2d 111, 114 (1977) (“One entering into a contract should read it and avail himself of every reasonable opportunity to understand its contents and meaning.”). Therefore, because the exclusion is plain and unambiguous, she would have known about the exclusion if she simply fulfilled her duty of reading the policy.

**B. By wording the exclusion as a step-down provision, Nationwide provided more clarity to the insured about how the exclusion applies under South Carolina law.**

On the most basic level, the Circuit Court held Nationwide’s flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions violate South Carolina law because they are step-down provisions. (R. p. 6). If anything, the fact that the exclusion is worded as a step-down should confirm that the exclusion is valid and enforceable under South Carolina law. South Carolina Code § 38-77-140 mandates minimum limits of coverage even when an insured is committing illegal or intentional acts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140; *South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Mumford*, 299 S.C. 14, 17, 382 S.E.2d 11, 12-13 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding that the Act mandates minimum limits coverage and “draws no distinction between intentional acts and negligent acts . . .”).

Therefore, Nationwide could not exclude bodily injuries for felonies or flight from law enforcement if the exclusion had the impact of reducing coverage below the minimum limits. The exclusion acknowledges this rule by plainly informing the insured that it applies “with regards to any amounts above the minimum limits required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Law . . . .” (R. p. 109). The exclusion applies, but only for amounts in excess of the mandatory minimum limits.

By wording this exclusion as a step-down provision, Nationwide accurately conveys the legal effect of the exclusion to the insured. In fact, a provision merely stating that felony or flight-from-law-enforcement is “excluded” would likely lead an insured to the incorrect conclusion that the policy provides no coverage for that conduct. Instead, the Nationwide policy language accurately describes how the exclusion works.

**C. The flight from law enforcement and felony exclusions comport with public policy as stated by the Supreme Court in *Williams*.**

The felony and flight-from-law-enforcement exclusions plainly and unambiguously exclude conduct that the State of South Carolina has already recognized as being against public policy. The General Assembly has answered the question of whether it is proper to discourage individuals from fleeing from law enforcement or committing felonies. The General Assembly itself has attempted to discourage this conduct by making them crimes. *See* S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2910 (“A person who is convicted of, pleads guilty to, or pleads nolo contendere to reckless homicide is guilty of a felony . . . .”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-750 (“[I]t is unlawful for a motor vehicle driver . . . to fail to stop when signaled by a law enforcement vehicle by means of a siren or flashing light.”). Nationwide’s policy exclusions promote the public policy of these criminal statutes by providing that an insured will not be indemnified for this illegal conduct above the mandatory minimum limits.

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