THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Trial Case No.: 2009-CP-04-00907

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000679

Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company Appellant

vs.

Sharmin Christine Walls, Randi Harper, Wendy Timms
in her capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate
of Christopher Adam Timms, Deborah Timms Respondents

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SHARMIN CHRISTINE WALLS AND
RANDI HARPER (SUBMITTED JOINTLY)**

Michael F. Mullinax (S.C. Bar No. 4133)
Mullinax Law Firm, P.A.
Post Office Box 2665

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

ARGUMENT

The step-down provision limiting the liability coverage in the Nationwide policy is void and violates public policy as it is in direct contravention of the mandates of South Carolina Code Annotated Section 38-77-142 (c) and Williams v. Government Employees Insurance Company 409 S.C. 586,762 S.E. 2d 705 (2014).

In violation of S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142, the Nationwide policy improperly excludes liability coverage in excess of the State’s minimum required limits of coverage while an insured is committing a felony or is fleeing from law enforcement. It is conceded by the Respondents that the step-down provision in the Appellant’s policy unambiguously limits coverage through its provision where the insured driver (1) while committing a felony or (2) while fleeing a law enforcement officer. However, in Williams, it was likewise the case that a step-down provision was found to unambiguously reduce the limits of coverage, but was still void for a violation of public policy. Williams at 711-712, 717.

In Williams the GEICO policy at issue sought to reduce liability coverage available to an injured family member of the insured, commonly known as a “family step-down provision”. The Court addressed three arguments against the family step-down provision by the personal representatives of the deceased family members affected by the provision.

The personal representatives first argued that the provision was ambiguous. The Court declined to adopt that argument, finding that “it is... apparent upon examination that there is an unambiguous limitation in this regard because it may only be understood one way.” Williams at 711. Here, that the provision is unambiguous is conceded by the Respondents.

Next, the personal representatives argued that public policy was violated by the provision in Williams on the basis that (1) the family step-down provision was in contravention of §38-77-142(c); and (2) that the provision is capable of producing harm such that its enforcement would be contrary to the public interest or manifestly injurious to the public welfare.

The Williams Court found that the provision violated public policy on both bases and thus was void. Id. at 717. It should be noted, however, the provision was found to be void on the basis of *either* violation *individually*, and did not require that both bases be present to invalidate the provision.

(a) The Nationwide step-down provision violates S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) and therefore is void.

While the Appellants have a right to contract with its customers, the right to create a contract to meet their every decision term or condition is not without limits. They are subject to the laws of the State.

“As a general rule, insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose conditions on their obligations provided they are not in contravention of public policy or some statutory inhibition. *B.L.G. Etners., Inc. v. First Fin. Ins. Co.*, 334 S.C. 529, 535-36, 514 S.E. 2d 327, 330 (1999); *Burns v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.* 297 S.C. 520, 523, 377 S.E. 2d 569, 570 (1989); *Cobb v. Benjamin*, 325 S.C. 573, 580-81, 482 S.E. 2d 589, 593 (Ct. App. 1997). While parties are generally permitted to contract as they see fit, freedom of contract is not absolute and coverage that is required by law may not be omitted. *Jordan v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 264 S.C. 294, 214 S.E. 2d 818, 820 (1975). Statutes governing an insurance contract are part of the contract as a matter of law, and to the extent a policy provision conflicts with an applicable statute, the provision is invalid. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Thatcher*, 283 S.C. 585, 587, 325 S.E. 2d 59, 61 (1985); *Jordan*, 264 S.C. at 297, 214 S.E. 2d at 820; *Boyd v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 260 S.C. 316, 319, 195 S.E. 2d 706, 707 (1973).”

Williams v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO) 409 S. C. 586, 598-99, 762 S.E. 2d 705, 712 (2014).

Here. S. C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) limits the Appellant's right to a step-down in coverage.

“(c) Any endorsement, provision, or rider attached to or included in any policy of insurance which purports or seeks to limit or reduce the coverage afforded by the provisions required by this section is void. S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) (2002).”

The *Williams* Court found that S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) prohibits reduction of the liability limits stated in the declarations page of the policy through the use of a policy step-down provision. The language set forth below effectively answers and negates the Appellant's argument as to “within the coverage/within the limits”. The

Declaration Page of the Walls policy is essentially the same as that referenced in the Williams case. (Walls Nationwide Policy, p. 1).

“In viewing the plain wording of §38-77-142, we find subsections (A) and (B) require a policy for liability insurance to contain a provision insuring the named insureds and permissive users against liability for damage incurred “within the coverage of the policy”. Subsection (B) additionally contains a provision regarding notice that states the mere failure to turn over a motion or complaint will not void coverage. Finally, subsection (c) provides that no policy provision may limit *or reduce* the coverage required by *this section* which refers to section 38-77-142, or else it is void.

We think it is significant that §38-77-142 provides insurers must provide liability coverage to insureds “within the coverage of the policy” and may not limit or reduce liability coverage in the policy below the amount provided *in this section* meaning §38-77-142. Thus, it is the face amount of the coverage that is relevant under §38-77-142, not the statutory minimum limits of liability coverage set forth in §38-77-140, which are not even mentioned in the statute”.

Therefore, once the face amount of coverage is agreed upon, it may not be arbitrarily reduced or limited by conflicting policy provisions that effectively retract this stated coverage (emphasis added). Any other interpretation of §38-77-142(c) would render the section useless, and the General Assembly is presumed not to perform useless acts. See *Denene, Inc v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E. 2d 196, 198 (2002). (“The Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.” (Citing *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. Of Rev* 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E. 2d 471 (1998)). After agreeing on a policy with \$100,000 in stated liability coverage for the named insureds, GEICO should not be permitted to subsequently reduce it with what it deems an “exclusion” in the policy.

Williams vs. Gov’t Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO), 409 S.C. 586, 604 762 S.E. 2d 705, 715 (2014).

The Williams case is directly on point with the case now before the Court.

Nationwide issued a policy to Sharmin Walls providing a face amount of coverage of 100,000/300,000 split limits liability coverage in the declarations page of the policy.

The Appellant’s step-down provision conflicts with the liability limits stated in the declarations and purports to effectively retract the stated coverage. This is precisely the actions that the Williams Court found to be prohibited.

The step-down provision in this case violates public policy because it violates the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-142(c) as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Williams. The provision is therefore void.

“A provision that is against public policy is void *ab initio* and, because it is deemed legally never to have come into existence, it is incapable of being enforced by courts. 16 Richard A. Lord, *Williston on Contracts* §49:12 (4th Ed. 2000). We see no reason to depart from this procedure here, as suggested in the concurrence/dissent, as it would be a hollow victory indeed for the prevailing parties if we were to enforce the offending provision here and restrict relief to prospective cases only. Where courts have found insurance provisions to be void against public policy, there have, as a matter of course, refused to give any effect to those provisions in the appeals before them. See generally *Lewis v. W. Am. Ins. Co.*, 927 S.W. 2d 829, 836 (Ky. 1996); *Watters v. Dairyland Ins. Co.* 50 Ohio App 2d 106, 361 N.E. 2d 1068 (1976); *Ryan vs. Knoller* 695 A. 2d 990 (R.I. 1997)”

Williams v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co. (GEICO) 409 S.C. 586, 608, 762 S.E. 2d 705, 717 (2014).

The Respondents, therefore, are entitled to have the policy construed in the absence of the step-down provision. Thus the applicable policy limits are \$100,000/\$300,000.

(b) The Nationwide step-down provision violates public policy of the State in that the provision is capable of producing harm such that its enforcement would be contrary to the public interest or manifestly injurious to the public welfare and therefore is void.

The step-down provision in the Nationwide policy also has the effect of eliminating coverage to the named insured, Sharmin Walls, who was an innocent passenger, as well as the purchaser of the \$100,000 coverage, in addition to the other innocent passengers. This is similar to the Factory Mutual Liability Insurance Company of America v. Kennedy 256 S.C. 376, 380-81, 182 S.E. 2d 727, 729 (1971) where the

Court stated “Liability insurance not only affords protection to insured motorists, it serves the important public purpose of affording protection to innocent victims of motor vehicle accidents”, *Williams* supra, p. 716.